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1. Text of the Proposed Rule Change  

(a) The Nasdaq Stock Market LLC (“Nasdaq” or “Exchange”), pursuant to 

Section 19(b)(1) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (“Act”)1 and Rule 19b-4 

thereunder,2 is filing with the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC” or 

“Commission”) a proposal to amend certain internal cross-references within General 5, 

Discipline. 

A notice of the proposed rule change for publication in the Federal Register is 

attached as Exhibit 1.  The text of the proposed rule change is attached as Exhibit 5. 

(b) Not applicable. 

(c) Not applicable. 

2. Procedures of the Self-Regulatory Organization 

The proposed rule change was approved by senior management of the Exchange 

pursuant to authority delegated by the Board of Directors of the Exchange (the “Board”) 

on September 25, 2019.  Exchange staff will advise the Board of any action taken 

pursuant to delegated authority.  No other action is necessary for the filing of the rule 

change. 

Questions and comments on the proposed rule change may be directed to: 

Angela Saccomandi Dunn 
Principal Associate General Counsel 

Nasdaq, Inc. 
215-496-5692 

                                                 
1  15 U.S.C. 78s(b)(1). 

2  17 CFR 240.19b-4. 
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3. Self-Regulatory Organization’s Statement of the Purpose of, and Statutory Basis 
for, the Proposed Rule Change  

a. Purpose 

In 2019, Nasdaq relocated its rules into a new Rulebook shell.3  As a result, 

several rules referenced within the 8000 and 9000 Series Rules contained in General 5 

Discipline have been relocated under a new rule number.  At this time, Nasdaq proposes 

to update certain internal cross-references within General 5, Discipline.  Specifically, 

Nasdaq proposes to update internal cross-references within Rules 8120 (Definitions), 

9110 (Application), 9268 (Decision of Hearing Panel or Extended Hearing Panel), 9269 

(Default Decisions), 9270 (Settlement Procedure), 9311 (Appeal by Any Party; Cross-

Appeal), 9312 (Review Proceeding Initiated By the Nasdaq Review Council), 9351 

(Discretionary Review by Nasdaq Board), 9360 (Effectiveness of Sanctions), 9524 

(Nasdaq Review Council Consideration), 9552 (Failure to Provide Information or Keep 

Information Current), 9553 (Failure to Pay Nasdaq Dues, Fees and Other Charges), 9554 

(Failure to Comply with an Arbitration Award or Related Settlement or an Order of 

Restitution or Settlement Providing for Restitution), 9555 (Failure to Meet the Eligibility 

or Qualification Standards or Prerequisites for Access to Services), 9556 (Failure to 

Comply with Temporary and Permanent Cease and Desist Orders), 9557 (Procedures for 

Regulating Activities Under Rules 4110A and 4120A Regarding a Member Experiencing 

Financial or Operational Difficulties), 9558 (Summary Proceedings for Actions 

Authorized by Section 6(d)(3) of the Act), 9559 (Hearing Procedures for Expedited 

Proceedings Under the Rule 9550 Series), and 9810 (Initiation of Proceeding). 

                                                 
3  See Securities Exchange Act Release No. 87778 (December 17, 2019), 84 FR 

70590 (December 23, 2019) (SR-NASDAQ-2019-098). 
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The Exchange proposes to update internal cross-references within these rules as 

follows: 

• Rule 0120 to General 1(b); 

• Rule 1160 to General 2, Section 11; 

• Rule 2010A to General 9, Section 1(a); 

• Rule 2140 to General 9, Section 1(h); 

• Rule 2160 to General 2, Section 14; 

• Rule 2170 to General 9, Section 53 

• Rule 4110A to General 9, Section 40; and 

• Rule 4120A to General 9, Section 41. 

The Exchange also proposes to replace references to General 5, Section 2 with the 

Rule 9600 Series within Nasdaq Rules 8211 (Automated Submission of Trading Data), 

9120(r) (Definitions) and 9610 (Application).   

The Exchange proposes other minor technical amendments to correct grammar 

and punctuation.  These amendments are non-substantive. 

b. Statutory Basis 

The Exchange believes that its proposal is consistent with Section 6(b) of the 

Act,4 in general, and furthers the objectives of Section 6(b)(5) of the Act,5 in particular, 

in that it is designed to promote just and equitable principles of trade and to protect 

investors and the public interest by correcting internal cross-references to its current 

rules, which were relocated.  These corrections to update rule references within the 

                                                 
4  15 U.S.C. 78f(b). 

5  15 U.S.C. 78f(b)(5). 
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Nasdaq Disciplinary Rules will make the rules accurate and reflect the correct cross-

referenced rules.  These amendments are non-substantive. 

4. Self-Regulatory Organization’s Statement on Burden on Competition 

The Exchange does not believe that the proposed rule change will impose any 

burden on competition not necessary or appropriate in furtherance of the purposes of the 

Act.  These corrections to update rule references within the Nasdaq Disciplinary Rules 

will make the rules accurate and reflect the correct cross-referenced rules.  These 

amendments are non-substantive.   

5. Self-Regulatory Organization’s Statement on Comments on the Proposed Rule 
Change Received from Members, Participants, or Others 

No written comments were either solicited or received.  

6. Extension of Time Period for Commission Action 

Not Applicable. 

7. Basis for Summary Effectiveness Pursuant to Section 19(b)(3) or for Accelerated 
Effectiveness Pursuant to Section 19(b)(2) 

The foregoing rule change has become effective pursuant to Section 

19(b)(3)(A)(iii)6 of the Act and Rule 19b-4(f)(6) thereunder7 in that it effects a change 

that: (i) does not significantly affect the protection of investors or the public interest; (ii) 

does not impose any significant burden on competition; and (iii) by its terms, does not 

become operative for 30 days after the date of the filing, or such shorter time as the 

Commission may designate if consistent with the protection of investors and the public 

interest. 

                                                 
6  15 U.S.C. 78s(b)(3)(A)(iii). 

7  17 CFR 240.19b-4(f)(6). 
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The Exchange believes that this proposal does not significantly affect the 

protection of investors or the public interest and does not impose any significant burden 

on competition.  These corrections to update rule references within the Nasdaq 

Disciplinary Rules will make the rules accurate and reflect the correct cross-referenced 

rules.  These amendments are non-substantive.   

Furthermore, Rule 19b-4(f)(6)(iii) requires a self-regulatory organization to give 

the Commission written notice of its intent to file a proposed rule change under that 

subsection at least five business days prior to the date of filing, or such shorter time as 

designated by the Commission.  The Exchange has provided such notice.  

At any time within 60 days of the filing of the proposed rule change, the 

Commission summarily may temporarily suspend such rule change if it appears to the 

Commission that such action is: (i) necessary or appropriate in the public interest; (ii) for 

the protection of investors; or (iii) otherwise in furtherance of the purposes of the Act.  If 

the Commission takes such action, the Commission shall institute proceedings to 

determine whether the proposed rule should be approved or disapproved. 

A proposed rule change filed under Rule 19b-4(f)(6) normally does not become 

operative prior to 30 days after the date of filing.  Rule 19b-4(f)(6)(iii), however, permits 

the Commission to designate a shorter time if such action is consistent with the protection 

of investors and the public interest.  The Exchange requests that the Commission waive 

the operative delay so that the Exchange may immediately update the identified rule 

references within the Nasdaq Disciplinary Rules and make the rules accurate and reflect 

the correct cross-referenced rules.   



SR-NASDAQ-2020-022  Page 8 of 30 
 

8. Proposed Rule Change Based on Rules of Another Self-Regulatory Organization 
or of the Commission 

Not applicable. 

9. Security-Based Swap Submissions Filed Pursuant to Section 3C of the Act 

Not applicable. 

10. Advance Notices Filed Pursuant to Section 806(e) of the Payment, Clearing and 
Settlement Supervision Act 

Not applicable. 

11. Exhibits 

1. Notice of Proposed Rule Change for publication in the Federal Register. 

5. Text of the proposed rule change. 
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EXHIBIT 1 
 

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION 
(Release No.                  ; File No. SR-NASDAQ-2020-022) 
 
April __, 2020 
 
Self-Regulatory Organizations; The Nasdaq Stock Market LLC; Notice of Filing and 
Immediate Effectiveness of Proposed Rule Change to Provide Updates to Various 
Nasdaq Disciplinary Rule Cross-References 
 

Pursuant to Section 19(b)(1) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (“Act”),1 and 

Rule 19b-4 thereunder,2 notice is hereby given that on April 22, 2020, The Nasdaq Stock 

Market LLC (“Nasdaq” or “Exchange”) filed with the Securities and Exchange 

Commission (“SEC” or “Commission”) the proposed rule change as described in Items I, 

II, and III, below, which Items have been prepared by the Exchange.  The Commission is 

publishing this notice to solicit comments on the proposed rule change from interested 

persons. 

I. Self-Regulatory Organization’s Statement of the Terms of Substance of the 
Proposed Rule Change 

The Exchange proposes to amend certain internal cross-references within General 

5, Discipline. 

The text of the proposed rule change is available on the Exchange’s Website at 

http://nasdaq.cchwallstreet.com, at the principal office of the Exchange, and at the 

Commission’s Public Reference Room. 

                                                 
1  15 U.S.C. 78s(b)(1). 

2  17 CFR 240.19b-4. 

http://nasdaq.cchwallstreet.com/
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II. Self-Regulatory Organization’s Statement of the Purpose of, and Statutory Basis 
for, the Proposed Rule Change 

In its filing with the Commission, the Exchange included statements concerning 

the purpose of and basis for the proposed rule change and discussed any comments it 

received on the proposed rule change.  The text of these statements may be examined at 

the places specified in Item IV below.  The Exchange has prepared summaries, set forth 

in sections A, B, and C below, of the most significant aspects of such statements. 

A. Self-Regulatory Organization’s Statement of the Purpose of, and Statutory 
Basis for, the Proposed Rule Change 

1. Purpose 

In 2019, Nasdaq relocated its rules into a new Rulebook shell.3  As a result, 

several rules referenced within the 8000 and 9000 Series Rules contained in General 5 

Discipline have been relocated under a new rule number.  At this time, Nasdaq proposes 

to update certain internal cross-references within General 5, Discipline.  Specifically, 

Nasdaq proposes to update internal cross-references within Rules 8120 (Definitions), 

9110 (Application), 9268 (Decision of Hearing Panel or Extended Hearing Panel), 9269 

(Default Decisions), 9270 (Settlement Procedure), 9311 (Appeal by Any Party; Cross-

Appeal), 9312 (Review Proceeding Initiated By the Nasdaq Review Council), 9351 

(Discretionary Review by Nasdaq Board), 9360 (Effectiveness of Sanctions), 9524 

(Nasdaq Review Council Consideration), 9552 (Failure to Provide Information or Keep 

Information Current), 9553 (Failure to Pay Nasdaq Dues, Fees and Other Charges), 9554 

(Failure to Comply with an Arbitration Award or Related Settlement or an Order of 

Restitution or Settlement Providing for Restitution), 9555 (Failure to Meet the Eligibility 

                                                 
3  See Securities Exchange Act Release No. 87778 (December 17, 2019), 84 FR 

70590 (December 23, 2019) (SR-NASDAQ-2019-098). 
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or Qualification Standards or Prerequisites for Access to Services), 9556 (Failure to 

Comply with Temporary and Permanent Cease and Desist Orders), 9557 (Procedures for 

Regulating Activities Under Rules 4110A and 4120A Regarding a Member Experiencing 

Financial or Operational Difficulties), 9558 (Summary Proceedings for Actions 

Authorized by Section 6(d)(3) of the Act), 9559 (Hearing Procedures for Expedited 

Proceedings Under the Rule 9550 Series), and 9810 (Initiation of Proceeding). 

The Exchange proposes to update internal cross-references within these rules as 

follows: 

• Rule 0120 to General 1(b); 

• Rule 1160 to General 2, Section 11; 

• Rule 2010A to General 9, Section 1(a); 

• Rule 2140 to General 9, Section 1(h); 

• Rule 2160 to General 2, Section 14; 

• Rule 2170 to General 9, Section 53 

• Rule 4110A to General 9, Section 40; and 

• Rule 4120A to General 9, Section 41. 

The Exchange also proposes to replace references to General 5, Section 2 with the 

Rule 9600 Series within Nasdaq Rules 8211 (Automated Submission of Trading Data), 

9120(r) (Definitions) and 9610 (Application).   

The Exchange proposes other minor technical amendments to correct grammar 

and punctuation.  These amendments are non-substantive. 
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2. Statutory Basis  

The Exchange believes that its proposal is consistent with Section 6(b) of the 

Act,4 in general, and furthers the objectives of Section 6(b)(5) of the Act,5 in particular, 

in that it is designed to promote just and equitable principles of trade and to protect 

investors and the public interest by correcting internal cross-references to its current 

rules, which were relocated.  These corrections to update rule references within the 

Nasdaq Disciplinary Rules will make the rules accurate and reflect the correct cross-

referenced rules.  These amendments are non-substantive. 

B.  Self-Regulatory Organization’s Statement on Burden on Competition  

The Exchange does not believe that the proposed rule change will impose any 

burden on competition not necessary or appropriate in furtherance of the purposes of the 

Act.  These corrections to update rule references within the Nasdaq Disciplinary Rules 

will make the rules accurate and reflect the correct cross-referenced rules.  These 

amendments are non-substantive.   

C. Self-Regulatory Organization’s Statement on Comments on the Proposed 
Rule Change Received from Members, Participants, or Others 

No written comments were either solicited or received. 

III. Date of Effectiveness of the Proposed Rule Change and Timing for Commission 
Action   

Because the foregoing proposed rule change does not: (i) significantly affect the 

protection of investors or the public interest; (ii) impose any significant burden on 

competition; and (iii) become operative for 30 days from the date on which it was filed, 

                                                 
4  15 U.S.C. 78f(b). 

5  15 U.S.C. 78f(b)(5). 
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or such shorter time as the Commission may designate, it has become effective pursuant 

to Section 19(b)(3)(A)(iii) of the Act6 and subparagraph (f)(6) of Rule 19b-4 thereunder.7   

At any time within 60 days of the filing of the proposed rule change, the 

Commission summarily may temporarily suspend such rule change if it appears to the 

Commission that such action is necessary or appropriate in the public interest, for the 

protection of investors, or otherwise in furtherance of the purposes of the Act.  If the 

Commission takes such action, the Commission shall institute proceedings to determine 

whether the proposed rule should be approved or disapproved. 

IV. Solicitation of Comments 

Interested persons are invited to submit written data, views, and arguments 

concerning the foregoing, including whether the proposed rule change is consistent with 

the Act.  Comments may be submitted by any of the following methods: 

Electronic comments: 

• Use the Commission’s Internet comment form 

(http://www.sec.gov/rules/sro.shtml); or  

• Send an e-mail to rule-comments@sec.gov.  Please include File Number SR-

NASDAQ-2020-022 on the subject line. 

                                                 
6  15 U.S.C. 78s(b)(3)(A)(iii). 

7  17 CFR 240.19b-4(f)(6).  In addition, Rule 19b-4(f)(6) requires a self-regulatory 
organization to give the Commission written notice of its intent to file the 
proposed rule change at least five business days prior to the date of filing of the 
proposed rule change, or such shorter time as designated by the Commission.  The 
Exchange has satisfied this requirement. 

http://www.sec.gov/rules/sro.shtml
mailto:rule-comments@sec.gov
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Paper comments: 

• Send paper comments in triplicate to Secretary, Securities and Exchange 

Commission, 100 F Street, NE, Washington, DC 20549-1090. 

All submissions should refer to File Number SR-NASDAQ-2020-022.  This file 

number should be included on the subject line if e-mail is used.  To help the Commission 

process and review your comments more efficiently, please use only one method.  The 

Commission will post all comments on the Commission’s Internet Web site 

(http://www.sec.gov/rules/sro.shtml).   

Copies of the submission, all subsequent amendments, all written statements with 

respect to the proposed rule change that are filed with the Commission, and all written 

communications relating to the proposed rule change between the Commission and any 

person, other than those that may be withheld from the public in accordance with the 

provisions of 5 U.S.C. 552, will be available for website viewing and printing in the 

Commission’s Public Reference Room, 100 F Street, NE, Washington, DC 20549, on 

official business days between the hours of 10:00 a.m. and 3:00 p.m.  Copies of the filing 

also will be available for inspection and copying at the principal office of the Exchange.  

All comments received will be posted without change; the Commission does not edit 

personal identifying information from submissions.  You should submit only information 

that you wish to make available publicly. 

All submissions should refer to File Number SR-NASDAQ-2020-022 and should 

be submitted on or before [insert date 21 days from publication in the Federal Register]. 
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For the Commission, by the Division of Trading and Markets, pursuant to 

delegated authority.8 

   J. Matthew DeLesDernier 
     Assistant Secretary 

                                                 
8  17 CFR 200.30-3(a)(12). 
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EXHIBIT 5 
New text is underlined; deleted text is in brackets. 
 
The Nasdaq Stock Market LLC Rules 
 

* * * * * 
General 5 Discipline 

8000. Investigations and Sanctions 
* * * * * 

8120. Definitions 
(a) Unless otherwise provided, terms used in the Rule 8000 Series shall have the meaning as 
defined in [Rule 0120]General 1, Section 1(b). 

(b) The term "Adjudicator" shall have the meaning as defined in Rule 9120. 

* * * * * 

8211. Automated Submission of Trading Data 

(a) - (d)No change. 

(e) Pursuant to the Rule 9600 Series[General 5, Section 2 ]Nasdaq may exempt a member from 
the requirement that the data prescribed in paragraphs (b) through (d) above be submitted to 
Nasdaq Regulation Department, including FINRA staff, in an automated format for good cause 
shown. 

* * * * * 

9110. Application 
(a) and (b) No change. 

(c) Incorporation of Defined Terms and Cross References 

Unless otherwise provided, terms used in the Rule 9000 Series shall have the meaning as defined 
in [Rule 0120]General 1, Section 1(b) and Rule 9120. 

(d) No change. 

* * * * * 

9120. Definitions 

(a) - (q) No change. 

(r) "Interested Staff" 
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The term "Interested Staff" means, in the context of: 

(1) – (2) No change. 

(3) a proceeding under the Rule 9600 Series[General 5, Section 2]: 

(A) – (E) No change. 

(4) No change. 

(s) – (bb) No change. 

* * * * * 

9268. Decision of Hearing Panel or Extended Hearing Panel 
(a) – (d) No change. 

(e) Appeal or Review  

(1) If not timely appealed pursuant to Rule 9311 or timely called for review pursuant to 
Rule 9312, the majority decision shall constitute final disciplinary action of Nasdaq for 
purposes of SEC Rule 19d-1(c)(1). 

(2) The majority decision with respect to a Nasdaq member that is an affiliate of Nasdaq 
within the meaning of [Rule 2160]General 2, Section 14 shall constitute final 
disciplinary action of Nasdaq for purposes of SEC Rule 19d-1(c)(1) and may not be 
appealed pursuant to Rule 9311 or called for review pursuant to Rule 9312. 

9269. Default Decisions 
(a) – (c) No change. 

(d) Final Disciplinary Action of Nasdaq; Effectiveness of Sanctions  

(1) If a default decision is not appealed pursuant to Rule 9311 or called for review 
pursuant to Rule 9312 within 25 days after the date the Office of Hearing Officers serves 
it on the Parties, the default decision shall become the final disciplinary action of Nasdaq 
for purposes of SEC Rule 19d-1(c)(1). Unless otherwise provided in the default decision, 
the sanctions shall become effective on a date to be determined by Nasdaq Regulation 
Department staff, except that a bar or expulsion shall become effective immediately 
upon the default decision becoming the final disciplinary action of Nasdaq. The decision 
shall be served on a Respondent by courier, facsimile or other means reasonably likely to 
obtain prompt service when the sanction is a bar or an expulsion. 

(2) A default decision with respect to a Nasdaq member that is an affiliate of Nasdaq 
within the meaning of [Rule 2160]General 2, Section 14 shall constitute final 
disciplinary action of Nasdaq for purposes of SEC Rule 19d-1(c)(1) and may not be 
appealed pursuant to Rule 9311 or called for review pursuant to Rule 9312. 
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9270. Settlement Procedure 
(a) – (d) No change. 

(e) Uncontested Offers of Settlement  

If a Respondent makes an offer of settlement and the Nasdaq Regulation Department or the 
Department of Enforcement does not oppose it, the offer of settlement is uncontested. If an offer 
of settlement is determined to be uncontested by the Nasdaq Regulation Department or the 
Department of Enforcement before a hearing on the merits has begun, the Nasdaq Regulation 
Department or the Department of Enforcement shall transmit the uncontested offer of settlement 
and a proposed order of acceptance to the Nasdaq Review Council (or to the Office of 
Disciplinary Affairs, in the case of a Respondent that is an affiliate of Nasdaq within the 
meaning of [Rule 2160]General 2, Section 14) with its recommendation. If an offer of settlement 
is determined to be uncontested by the Nasdaq Regulation Department or the Department of 
Enforcement after a hearing on the merits has begun, the Nasdaq Regulation Department or the 
Department of Enforcement shall transmit the offer of settlement and a proposed order of 
acceptance to the Hearing Panel or, if applicable, the Extended Hearing Panel for acceptance or 
rejection. If accepted by the Hearing Panel or, if applicable, Extended Hearing Panel, the offer of 
settlement and the order of acceptance shall be forwarded to the Nasdaq Review Council (or to 
the Office of Disciplinary Affairs, in the case of a Respondent that is an affiliate of Nasdaq 
within the meaning of [Rule 2160]General 2, Section 14) to accept or reject. 

(1) No change. 

(2) Before an offer of settlement and an order of acceptance shall become effective, they 
shall be submitted to and accepted by the Nasdaq Review Council or the Office of 
Disciplinary Affairs. The Office of Disciplinary Affairs may accept such offer of 
settlement and order of acceptance or refer them to the Nasdaq Review Council. The 
Review Subcommittee may accept or reject such offer of settlement and order of 
acceptance or refer them to the Nasdaq Review Council for acceptance or rejection by 
the Nasdaq Review Council. In the case of a Respondent that is an affiliate of Nasdaq 
within the meaning of [Rule 2160]General 2, Section 14, the offer of settlement and 
order of acceptance shall be accepted or rejected by the Office of Disciplinary Affairs 
and shall not be referred to the Nasdaq Review Council. 

(3) No change. 

(f) Contested Offers of Settlement  

If a Respondent makes an offer of settlement and the Nasdaq Regulation Department or the 
Department of Enforcement opposes it, the offer of settlement is contested. When the Nasdaq 
Regulation Department or the Department of Enforcement opposes an offer of settlement, the 
Respondent's written offer and the Nasdaq Regulation Department or the Department of 
Enforcement's written opposition shall be submitted to a Hearing Panel or, if applicable, an 
Extended Hearing Panel. The Hearing Panel or, if applicable, the Extended Hearing Panel, may 
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order the Nasdaq Regulation Department or the Department of Enforcement and the Respondent 
to attend a settlement conference. 

(1) If a contested offer of settlement is approved by the Hearing Panel or, if applicable, 
Extended Hearing Panel, the Hearing Officer shall draft an order of acceptance of the 
offer of settlement. The order of acceptance shall make findings of fact, including a 
statement of the rule, regulation, or statutory provision violated, and impose sanctions 
(including, if applicable, a permanent cease and desist order) consistent with the terms of 
the offer of settlement. The offer of settlement, any written opposition thereto, and the 
order of acceptance shall be forwarded to the Nasdaq Review Council (or to the Office 
of Disciplinary Affairs, in the case of a Respondent that is an affiliate of Nasdaq within 
the meaning of [Rule 2160]General 2, Section 14) to accept or reject. 

(2) Before an offer of settlement and order of acceptance shall become effective, they 
shall be submitted to, and accepted by, the Nasdaq Review Council or the Office of 
Disciplinary Affairs. The Review Subcommittee may accept or reject such offer of 
settlement and order of acceptance or refer them to the Nasdaq Review Council for 
acceptance or rejection by the Nasdaq Review Council. In the case of a Respondent that 
is an affiliate of Nasdaq within the meaning of [Rule 2160]General 2, Section 14, the 
offer of settlement and order of acceptance shall be accepted or rejected by the Office of 
Disciplinary Affairs and shall not be referred to the Nasdaq Review Council. 

(3) No change. 

(g) – (j) No change. 

* * * * * 

9311. Appeal by Any Party; Cross-Appeal 
(a) Time to File Notice of Appeal  

A Respondent or the Nasdaq Regulation Department or the Department of Enforcement may file 
a written notice of appeal within 25 days after service of a decision issued pursuant to Rule 9268 
or Rule 9269; provided, however, that a decision with respect to a 

Respondent that is an affiliate of Nasdaq within the meaning of [Rule 2160]General 2, Section 
14 may not be appealed to the Nasdaq Review Council.[.] 

(b) – (f) No change. 

9312. Review Proceeding Initiated By the Nasdaq Review Council 
(a) Call for Review  

(1) and (2) No change. 

(3) Decision Regarding Affiliate of Nasdaq 
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Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, a decision with respect to a member 
that is an affiliate of Nasdaq within the meaning of [Rule 2160]General 2, Section 14 
may not be called for review by the Nasdaq Review Council. 

(b) – (d) No change. 

* * * * * 

9351. Discretionary Review by Nasdaq Board 
(a) Call for Review by Director 

A Director may call a disciplinary proceeding for review by the Nasdaq Board if the call for 
review is made within the period prescribed in paragraph (b); provided, however, that a decision 
with respect to a member that is an affiliate of Nasdaq within the meaning of [Rule 2160]General 
2, Section 14 may not be called for review. 

(b) – (e) No change. 

* * * * * 

9360. Effectiveness of Sanctions 
Unless otherwise provided in the decision issued under Rule 9349 or Rule 9351, a sanction 
(other than a bar, an expulsion, or a permanent cease and desist order) specified in a decision 
constituting final disciplinary action of Nasdaq for purposes of SEC Rule 19d-1(c)(1) shall 
become effective on a date to be determined by Nasdaq staff (or the Hearing Panel, Extended 
Hearing Panel, or Office of Disciplinary Affairs in the case of a decision with respect to an 
affiliate of Nasdaq within the meaning of [Rule 2160]General 2, Section 14). A bar, an 
expulsion, or a permanent cease and desist order shall become effective upon service of the 
decision constituting final disciplinary action of Nasdaq, unless otherwise specified therein. 
Nasdaq shall serve the decision on a Respondent by courier, facsimile or other means reasonably 
likely to obtain prompt service when the sanction is a bar, an expulsion, or a permanent cease 
and desist order. 

* * * * * 

9400. Expedited Client Suspension Proceeding 
(a) Initiation of Proceeding 

(1) Scope of Authority. With the prior written authorization of the Chief Regulatory Officer 
("CRO") or such other senior officers as the CRO may designate, the Nasdaq Regulation 
Department or the Department of Enforcement may initiate an expedited suspension proceeding 
with respect to alleged violations of [Rule 2170]General 9, Section 53 or Options 9, Section 4 
(Disruptive Quoting and Trading Activity Prohibited). 

* * * * * 

 
(d) Issuance of Suspension Order by Hearing Panel 
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(1) No change. 

(2) Content, Scope, and Form of Order. A suspension order shall: 

(A) be limited to: (i) ordering a Respondent to cease and desist from violating 
[Rule 2170]General 9, Section 53 or Options 9, Section 4, and/or (ii) ordering a 
Respondent to cease and desist from providing access to the Exchange to a client 
of Respondent that is causing violations of [Rule 2170]General 9, Section 53 or 
Options 9, Section 4; 

* * * * * 

9524. Nasdaq Review Council Consideration 
(a) Hearing Panel Consideration 

(1) Appointment of Hearing Panel 

When the disqualified member, sponsoring firm, or applicant requests a hearing, the 
Nasdaq Review Council or the Review Subcommittee shall appoint a Hearing Panel 
composed of two or more members, who shall be current or former members of the 
Nasdaq Review Council or the Statutory Disqualification Committee or former Directors 
(provided, however, that current members of the Nasdaq Review Council shall not serve 
on a Hearing Panel with respect to an affiliate of Nasdaq within the meaning of [Rule 
2160]General 2, Section 14). The Hearing Panel shall conduct a hearing and recommend 
a decision on the request for relief. 

(2) – (9) No change. 

(10) Recommendation 

On the basis of the record, the Hearing Panel shall present a recommended decision in 
writing on the request for relief to the Statutory Disqualification Committee. After 
considering the record and recommendation of the Hearing Panel, the Statutory 
Disqualification Committee shall present its recommended decision in writing to the 
Nasdaq Review Council. Notwithstanding the foregoing, with respect to a Nasdaq 
member that is an affiliate of Nasdaq within the meaning of [Rule 2140]General 9, 
Section 1(h), the Hearing Panel shall prepare a final decision meeting the requirements 
of Rule 9524(b)(2), which shall not be reviewed by the Statutory Disqualification 
Committee or the Nasdaq Review Council, and may not be called for review by the 
Nasdaq Board pursuant to Rule 9525. 

(b) Decision 

(1) and (2) No change. 

(3) Issuance of Decision After Expiration of Call for Review Period 
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The Nasdaq Review Council shall provide its proposed written decision to the Nasdaq 
Board. The Nasdaq Board may call the eligibility proceeding for review pursuant to Rule 
9525. If the Nasdaq Board does not call the eligibility proceeding for review, the 
proposed written decision of the Nasdaq Review Council shall become final, and the 
Nasdaq Review Council shall serve its written decision on the disqualified member, 
sponsoring member, and/or disqualified person, as the case may be, and the Department 
of Member Regulation pursuant to Rules 9132 and 9134. In the case of a decision with 
respect to a Nasdaq member that is an affiliate of Nasdaq within the meaning of [Rule 
2160]General 2, Section 14, the decision of the Hearing Panel shall become final without 
being provided to the Nasdaq Board, and the Hearing Panel shall serve its written 
decision. 

The decision shall constitute final action of Nasdaq, unless the Nasdaq Review Council 
remands the eligibility proceeding. A decision to deny re-entry or continued association 
shall be effective immediately. A decision to approve shall be effective after the 
Commission issues an acknowledgment letter or, in cases involving Commission ordered 
sanctions, an order. 

* * * * * 

9552. Failure to Provide Information or Keep Information Current 
(a) No change. 

(b) Service of Notice of Suspension 

Except as provided below, Nasdaq Regulation Department staff (or FINRA, acting on behalf of 
Nasdaq) shall serve the member or person with such notice (or upon counsel representing the 
member or person, or other person authorized to represent others under Rule 9141, when counsel 
or other person authorized to represent others under Rule 9141 agrees to accept service for the 
member or person) in accordance with Rule 9134 or by facsimile or email. A copy of a notice 
under this Rule that is served on a person associated with a member also shall be served on such 
member. Papers served on a member by facsimile shall be sent to the member's facsimile number 
listed in the FINRA Contact System submitted to Nasdaq pursuant to [Rule 1160]General 2, 
Section 11, except that, if Nasdaq Regulation Department staff has actual knowledge that a 
member's FINRA Contact System facsimile number is out of date, duplicate copies shall be sent 
to the member by overnight courier or personal delivery in conformity with paragraphs (a)(1) 
and (3) and (b)(2) of Rule 9134. Papers served on a member by email shall be sent to the 
member's email address listed in the FINRA Contact System submitted to Nasdaq pursuant to 
[Rule 1160]General 2, Section 11 and shall also be served by either overnight courier or personal 
delivery in conformity with paragraphs (a)(1) and (3) and (b)(2) of Rule 9134. Papers served on 
a person by facsimile or email shall be sent to the person's last known facsimile number or email 
address and shall also be served by either overnight courier or personal delivery in conformity 
with paragraphs (a)(1) and (3) and (b)(1) of Rule 9134. Papers served on counsel for a member 
or person, or other person authorized to represent others under Rule 9141, by facsimile or email 
shall be sent to the facsimile number or email address that counsel or other person authorized to 
represent others under Rule 9141 provides and shall also be served by either overnight courier or 
personal delivery in conformity with paragraphs (a)(1) and (3) of Rule 9134. Service is complete 
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upon sending the notice by facsimile or email, mailing the notice by U.S. Postal Service first 
class mail, first class certified mail, first class registered mail, or Express Mail, sending the 
notice through a courier service, or delivering it in person, except that, where duplicate service is 
required, service is complete when the duplicate service is complete. 

(c) – (h) No change. 

9553. Failure to Pay Nasdaq Dues, Fees and Other Charges 
(a) Notice of Suspension, Cancellation or Bar 

If a member, person associated with a member or person subject to Nasdaq's jurisdiction fails to 
pay any fees, dues, assessment or other charge required to be paid under the Nasdaq By-Laws or 
Rules, or to submit a required report or information related to such payment, Nasdaq Regulation 
Department staff may issue a written notice to such member or person stating that the failure to 
comply within 21 days of service of the notice will result in a suspension or cancellation of 
membership or a suspension or bar from associating with any member. 

(b) Service of Notice of Suspension, Cancellation or Bar 

Except as provided below, Nasdaq Regulation Department staff (or FINRA, acting on behalf of 
Nasdaq) shall serve the member or person with such notice (or upon counsel representing the 
member or person, or other person authorized to represent others under Rule 9141, when counsel 
or other person authorized to represent others under Rule 9141 agrees to accept service for the 
member or person) in accordance with Rule 9134 or by facsimile or email. A copy of a notice 
under this Rule that is served on a person associated with a member also shall be served on such 
member. Papers served on a member by facsimile shall be sent to the member's facsimile number 
listed in the FINRA Contact System submitted to Nasdaq pursuant to [Rule 1160] General 2, 
Section 11, except that, if Nasdaq Regulation Department staff has actual knowledge that a 
member's FINRA Contact System facsimile number is out of date, duplicate copies shall be sent 
to the member by overnight courier or personal delivery in conformity with paragraphs (a)(1) 
and (3) and (b)(2) of Rule 9134. Papers served on a member by email shall be sent to the 
member's email address listed in the FINRA Contact System submitted to Nasdaq pursuant to 
[Rule 1160]General 2, Section 11 and shall also be served by either overnight courier or personal 
delivery in conformity with paragraphs (a)(1) and (3) and (b)(2) of Rule 9134. Papers served on 
a person by facsimile or email shall be sent to the person's last known facsimile number or email 
address and shall also be served by either overnight courier or personal delivery in conformity 
with paragraphs (a)(1) and (3) and (b)(1) of Rule 9134. Papers served on counsel for a member 
or person, or other person authorized to represent others under Rule 9141, by facsimile or email 
shall be sent to the facsimile number or email address that counsel or other person authorized to 
represent others under Rule 9141 provides and shall also be served by either overnight courier or 
personal delivery in conformity with paragraphs (a)(1) and (3) of Rule 9134. Service is complete 
upon sending the notice by facsimile or email, mailing the notice by U.S. Postal Service first 
class mail, first class certified mail, first class registered mail, or Express Mail, sending the 
notice through a courier service, or delivering it in person, except that, where duplicate service is 
required, service is complete when the duplicate service is complete. 
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(c) – (g) No change. 

9554. Failure to Comply with an Arbitration Award or Related Settlement or an Order of 
Restitution or Settlement Providing for Restitution 
(a) No change. 

(b) Service of Notice of Suspension or Cancellation 

Except as provided below, Nasdaq Regulation Department staff (or FINRA, acting on behalf of 
Nasdaq) shall serve the member or person with such notice (or upon counsel representing the 
member or person, or other person authorized to represent others under Rule 9141, when counsel 
or other person authorized to represent others under Rule 9141 agrees to accept service for the 
member or person) in accordance with Rule 9134 or by facsimile or email. A copy of a notice 
under this Rule that is served on a person associated with a member also shall be served on such 
member. Papers served on a member by facsimile shall be sent to the member's facsimile number 
listed in the FINRA Contact System submitted to Nasdaq pursuant to [Rule 1160]General 2, 
Section 11, except that, if Nasdaq Regulation Department staff has actual knowledge that a 
member's FINRA Contact System facsimile number is out of date, duplicate copies shall be sent 
to the member by overnight courier or personal delivery in conformity with paragraphs (a)(1) 
and (3) and (b)(2) of Rule 9134. Papers served on a member by email shall be sent to the 
member's email address listed in the FINRA Contact System submitted to Nasdaq pursuant to 
[Rule 1160]General 2, Section 11 and shall also be served by either overnight courier or personal 
delivery in conformity with paragraphs (a)(1) and (3) and (b)(2) of Rule 9134. Papers served on 
a person by facsimile or email shall be sent to the person's last known facsimile number or email 
address and shall also be served by either overnight courier or personal delivery in conformity 
with paragraphs (a)(1) and (3) and (b)(1) of Rule 9134. Papers served on counsel for a member 
or person, or other person authorized to represent others under Rule 9141, by facsimile or email 
shall be sent to the facsimile number or email address that counsel or other person authorized to 
represent others under Rule 9141 provides and shall also be served by either overnight courier or 
personal delivery in conformity with paragraphs (a)(1) and (3) of Rule 9134. Service is complete 
upon sending the notice by facsimile or email, mailing the notice by U.S. Postal Service first 
class mail, first class certified mail, first class registered mail, or Express Mail, sending the 
notice through a courier service, or delivering it in person, except that, where duplicate service is 
required, service is complete when the duplicate service is complete. 

(c) – (g) No change. 

9555. Failure to Meet the Eligibility or Qualification Standards or Prerequisites for Access 
to Services 
(a) No change. 

(b) Service of Notice 

Except as provided below, Nasdaq Regulation Department staff (or FINRA, acting on behalf of 
Nasdaq) shall serve the member or person with such notice (or upon counsel representing the 
member or person, or other person authorized to represent others under Rule 9141, when counsel 
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or other person authorized to represent others under Rule 9141 agrees to accept service for the 
member or person) in accordance with Rule 9134 or by facsimile or email. A copy of a notice 
under this Rule that is served on a person associated with a member also shall be served on such 
member. Papers served on a member by facsimile shall be sent to the member's facsimile number 
listed in the FINRA Contact System submitted to Nasdaq pursuant to [Rule 1160]General 2, 
Section 11, except that, if Nasdaq Regulation Department staff has actual knowledge that a 
member's FINRA Contact System facsimile number is out of date, duplicate copies shall be sent 
to the member by overnight courier or personal delivery in conformity with paragraphs (a)(1) 
and (3) and (b)(2) of Rule 9134. Papers served on a member by email shall be sent to the 
member's email address listed in the FINRA Contact System submitted to Nasdaq pursuant to 
[Rule 1160]General 2, Section 11 and shall also be served by either overnight courier or personal 
delivery in conformity with paragraphs (a)(1) and (3) and (b)(2) of Rule 9134. Papers served on 
a person by facsimile or email shall be sent to the person's last known facsimile number or email 
address and shall also be served by either overnight courier or personal delivery in conformity 
with paragraphs (a)(1) and (3) and (b)(1) of Rule 9134. Papers served on counsel for a member 
or person, or other person authorized to represent others under Rule 9141, by facsimile or email 
shall be sent to the facsimile number or email address that counsel or other person authorized to 
represent others under Rule 9141 provides and shall also be served by either overnight courier or 
personal delivery in conformity with paragraphs (a)(1) and (3) of Rule 9134. Service is complete 
upon sending the notice by facsimile or email, mailing the notice by U.S. Postal Service first 
class mail, first class certified mail, first class registered mail, or Express Mail, sending the 
notice through a courier service, or delivering it in person, except that, where duplicate service is 
required, service is complete when the duplicate service is complete. 

(c) – (g) No change. 

9556. Failure to Comply with Temporary and Permanent Cease and Desist Orders 
(a) No change. 

(b) Service of Notice  

Nasdaq Regulation Department staff (or FINRA, acting on behalf of Nasdaq) shall serve the 
member or person subject to a notice issued under this Rule (or upon counsel representing the 
member or person, or other person authorized to represent others under Rule 9141, when counsel 
or other person authorized to represent others under Rule 9141 agrees to accept service for the 
member or person) by facsimile, email, overnight courier or personal delivery. Papers served on 
a member, person or counsel for such member or person, or other person authorized to represent 
others under Rule 9141 by overnight courier or personal delivery shall conform to paragraphs 
(a)(1) and (3) and, with respect to a member or person, (b)(1) and (2) of Rule 9134. Papers 
served on a member by facsimile shall be sent to the member's facsimile number listed in the 
FINRA Contact System submitted to Nasdaq pursuant to [Rule 1160]General 2, Section 11, 
except that, if Nasdaq Regulation Department staff has actual knowledge that a member's 
FINRA Contact System facsimile number is out of date, duplicate copies shall be sent to the 
member by overnight courier or personal delivery in conformity with paragraphs (a)(1) and (3) 
and (b)(2) of Rule 9134. Papers served on a member by email shall be sent to the member's email 
address listed in the FINRA Contact System submitted to Nasdaq pursuant to [Rule 
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1160]General 2, Section 11 and shall also be served by either overnight courier or personal 
delivery in conformity with paragraphs (a)(1) and (3) and (b)(2) of Rule 9134. Papers served on 
a person by facsimile or email shall be sent to the person's last known facsimile number or email 
address and shall also be served by either overnight courier or personal delivery in conformity 
with paragraphs (a)(1) and (3) and (b)(1) of Rule 9134. Papers served on counsel for a member 
or person, or other person authorized to represent others under Rule 9141 by facsimile or email 
shall be sent to the facsimile number or email address that counsel or other person authorized to 
represent others under Rule 9141 provides and shall also be served by either overnight courier or 
personal delivery in conformity with paragraphs (a)(1) and (3) of Rule 9134. A copy of a notice 
under this Rule that is served on a person associated with a member also shall be served on such 
member. Service is complete upon sending the notice by facsimile or email, sending the notice 
by overnight courier or delivering it in person, except that, where duplicate service is required, 
service is complete upon sending the duplicate service. 

(c) – (h) No change. 

9557. Procedures for Regulating Activities Under [Rules 4110A and 4120A]General 9, 
Sections 40 and 41 Regarding a Member Experiencing Financial or Operational Difficulties 
(a) Notice of Requirements and/or Restrictions; Nasdaq Action 

Nasdaq Regulation Department staff (or FINRA, acting on behalf of Nasdaq) may issue a notice 
directing a member to comply with the provisions of [Rule 4110A or 4120A]General 9, Sections 
40 and 41 or restrict its business activities, either by limiting or ceasing to conduct those 
activities consistent with [Rule 4110A or 4120A]General 9, Sections 40 and 41, if Nasdaq 
Regulation Department staff (or FINRA, acting on behalf of Nasdaq) has reason to believe that a 
condition specified in [Rule 4110A or 4120A]General 9, Sections 40 and 41 exists. A notice 
served under this Rule shall constitute Nasdaq action. 

(b) Service of Notice 

Nasdaq Regulation Department staff (or FINRA, acting on behalf of Nasdaq) shall serve the 
member subject to a notice issued under this Rule (or upon counsel representing the member, or 
other person authorized to represent others under Rule 9141, when counsel or other person 
authorized to represent others under Rule 9141 agrees to accept service for the member) by 
facsimile, email, overnight courier or personal delivery. Papers served on a member, counsel for 
such member, or other person authorized to represent others under Rule 9141 by overnight 
courier or personal delivery shall conform to paragraphs (a)(1) and (3) and, with respect to a 
member, (b)(2) of Rule 9134. Papers served on a member by facsimile shall be sent to the 
member's facsimile number listed in the FINRA Contact System submitted to Nasdaq pursuant to 
[Rule 1160]General 2, Section 11, except that, if Nasdaq Regulation Department staff has actual 
knowledge that a member's FINRA Contact System facsimile number is out of date, duplicate 
copies shall be sent to the member by overnight courier or personal delivery in conformity with 
paragraphs (a)(1) and (3) and (b)(2) of Rule 9134. Papers served on a member by email shall be 
sent to the member's email address listed in the FINRA Contact System submitted to Nasdaq 
pursuant to [Rule 1160]General 2, Section 11 and shall also be served by either overnight courier 
or personal delivery in conformity with paragraphs (a)(1) and (3) and (b)(2) of Rule 9134. Papers 
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served on counsel for a member, or other person authorized to represent others under Rule 9141 
by facsimile or email shall be sent to the facsimile number or email address that counsel or other 
person authorized to represent others under Rule 9141 provides and shall also be served by either 
overnight courier or personal delivery in conformity with paragraphs (a)(1) and (3) of Rule 9134. 
Service is complete upon sending the notice by facsimile or email, sending the notice by 
overnight courier or delivering it in person, except that, where duplicate service is required, 
service is complete upon sending the duplicate service. 

(c) – (f) 

(g) Additional Requirements and/or Restrictions or the Removal or Reduction of Requirements 
and/or Restrictions; Letter of Withdrawal of the Notice 

(1) Additional Requirements and/or Restrictions 

If a member continues to experience financial or operational difficulty specified in Rule 
[4110A or 4120A]General 9, Sections 40 and 41, notwithstanding an effective notice, 
Nasdaq Regulation Department staff (or FINRA, acting on behalf of Nasdaq) may 
impose additional requirements and/or restrictions by serving an additional notice under 
paragraph (b) of this Rule. The additional notice shall inform the member that it may 
apply for relief from the additional requirements and/or restrictions by filing a written 
request for a letter of withdrawal of the notice and/or a written request for a hearing 
before the Office of Hearing Officers under Rule 9559. The procedures delineated in this 
Rule shall be applicable to such additional notice. 

(2) Removal or Reduction of Requirements and/or Restrictions and/or Lifting of 
Suspension; Letter of Withdrawal 

(A) Removal or Reduction of Requirements and/or Restrictions 

If, upon the member's demonstration to the satisfaction of Nasdaq Regulation 
Department staff (or FINRA, acting on behalf of Nasdaq), Nasdaq Regulation 
Department staff (or FINRA, acting on behalf of Nasdaq) determines that any 
requirements and/or restrictions imposed by a notice under this Rule should be 
removed or reduced, Nasdaq Regulation Department staff (or FINRA, acting on behalf 
of Nasdaq) shall serve the member, pursuant to paragraph (b) of this Rule, a written 
letter of withdrawal that shall, in the sole discretion of Nasdaq Regulation Department 
staff (or FINRA, acting on behalf of Nasdaq), withdraw the notice in whole or in part. 
A notice that is withdrawn in part shall remain in force, unless Nasdaq Regulation 
Department staff (or FINRA, acting on behalf of Nasdaq) shall remove the remaining 
requirements and/or restrictions. 

(B) Lifting of Suspension 

If, upon the member's demonstration to the satisfaction of Nasdaq Regulation 
Department staff (or FINRA, acting on behalf of Nasdaq), Nasdaq Regulation 
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Department staff (or FINRA, acting on behalf of Nasdaq) determines that a suspension 
imposed by a notice under this Rule should be lifted, Nasdaq Regulation Department 
staff (or FINRA, acting on behalf of Nasdaq) shall serve the member, pursuant to 
paragraph (b) of this Rule, a letter that shall, in the sole discretion of Nasdaq 
Regulation Department staff (or FINRA, acting on behalf of Nasdaq), lift the 
suspension. Where all or some of the requirements and/or restrictions imposed by a 
notice issued under this Rule remain in force, the letter shall state that the member's 
failure to continue to comply with those requirements and/or restrictions that remain 
effective shall result in the member being immediately suspended. 

(h) No change. 

9558. Summary Proceedings for Actions Authorized by Section 6(d)(3) of the Act 
(a) No change. 

(b) Service of Notice 

Nasdaq Regulation Department staff (or FINRA, acting on behalf of Nasdaq) shall serve the 
member or person subject to a notice issued under this Rule (or upon counsel representing the 
member or person, or other person authorized to represent others under Rule 9141, when counsel 
or other person authorized to represent others under Rule 9141 agrees to accept service for the 
member or person) by facsimile, email, overnight courier, or personal delivery. Papers served on 
a member, person or counsel for such member or person, or other person authorized to represent 
others under Rule 9141 by overnight courier or personal delivery shall conform to paragraphs 
(a)(1) and (3) and, with respect to a member or person, (b)(1) and (2) of Rule 9134. Papers 
served on a member by facsimile shall be sent to the member's facsimile number listed in the 
FINRA Contact System submitted to Nasdaq pursuant to [Rule 1160]General 2, Section 11, 
except that, if Nasdaq Regulation Department staff has actual knowledge that a member's 
FINRA Contact System facsimile number is out of date, duplicate copies shall be sent to the 
member by overnight courier or personal delivery in conformity with paragraphs (a)(1) and (3) 
and (b)(2) of Rule 9134. Papers served on a member by email shall be sent to the member's email 
address listed in the FINRA Contact System submitted to Nasdaq pursuant to [Rule 
1160]General 2, Section 11 and shall also be served by either overnight courier or personal 
delivery in conformity with paragraphs (a)(1) and (3) and (b)(2) of Rule 9134. Papers served on 
a person by facsimile or email shall be sent to the person's last known facsimile number or email 
address and shall also be served by either overnight courier or personal delivery in conformity 
with paragraphs (a)(1) and (3) and (b)(1) of Rule 9134. A copy of a notice under this Rule that is 
served on a person associated with a member also shall be served on such member. Papers 
served on counsel for a member or person, or other person authorized to represent others under 
Rule 9141 by facsimile or email shall be sent to the facsimile number or email address that 
counsel or other person authorized to represent others under Rule 9141 provides and shall also be 
served by either overnight courier or personal delivery in conformity with paragraphs (a)(1) and 
(3) of Rule 9134. Service is complete upon sending the notice by facsimile or email, sending the 
notice by overnight courier or delivering it in person, except that, where duplicate service is 
required, service is complete upon sending the duplicate service. 
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(c) – (g) No change. 

9559. Hearing Procedures for Expedited Proceedings Under the Rule 9550 Series 
(a) – (p) No change. 

(q) Call for Review by the Nasdaq Review Council 

(1) For proceedings initiated under the Rule 9550 Series (other than Rule 9557), the 
Nasdaq Review Council's Review Subcommittee may call for review a proposed 
decision prepared by a Hearing Officer or, if applicable, Hearing Panel within 21 days 
after receipt of the decision from the Office of Hearing Officers; provided, however, that 
a decision under the Rule 9550 Series with respect to a Nasdaq member that is an 
affiliate of Nasdaq within the meaning of [Rule 2160]General 2, Section 14 shall 
constitute final disciplinary action of Nasdaq for purposes of SEC Rule 19d-1(c)(1) and 
may not be called for review pursuant to Rule 9559. For proceedings initiated under Rule 
9557, the Nasdaq Review Council's Review Subcommittee may call for review a written 
decision issued under paragraph (o)(4)(B) of this Rule by a Hearing Panel within 14 days 
after receipt of the written decision from the Office of Hearing Officers. Rule 9313(a) is 
incorporated herein by reference. 

(2) – (6) No change. 

(r) and (s) No change. 

* * * * * 

9610. Application 

(a) Where to File 

A member seeking exemptive relief as specifically permitted under any Nasdaq Rule 
referencing the Rule 9600 Series[General 5, Section 2] shall file a written application with the 
appropriate FINRA department or staff and provide a copy of the application to the Nasdaq 
Regulation Department. 

(b) – (c) No change. 

* * * * * 

9810. Initiation of Proceeding 
(a) Nasdaq Regulation Department or Department of Enforcement  

With the prior written authorization of FINRA's Chief Executive Officer or such other 
senior officers as the Chief Executive Officer may designate, and the Nasdaq Chief 
Regulatory Officer, the Nasdaq Regulation Department or the Department of Enforcement 
may initiate a temporary cease and desist proceeding with respect to alleged violations of 
Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act and SEC Rule 10b-5 thereunder; SEC Rules 15g-1 
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through 15g-9; [Nasdaq Rule 2010A]General 9, Section 1(a) (if the alleged violation is 
unauthorized trading, or misuse or conversion of customer assets, or based on violations of 
Section 17(a) of the Securities Act);General 9, Section 1; or General 9, Section 2 (if the 
alleged violation is misuse or conversion of customer assets). The Nasdaq Regulation 
Department or the Department of Enforcement shall initiate the proceeding by serving a 
notice on a member or associated person (hereinafter "Respondent") (or upon counsel 
representing the Respondent, or other person authorized to represent others under Rule 
9141, when counsel or other person authorized to represent others under Rule 9141 agrees 
to accept service for the Respondent) and filing a copy thereof with the Office of Hearing 
Officers. The Nasdaq Regulation Department or the Department of Enforcement shall serve 
the notice by personal service, overnight commercial courier, facsimile, or email. If service 
is made by facsimile or email, the Nasdaq Regulation Department or the Department of 
Enforcement shall send an additional copy of the notice by personal service or overnight 
commercial courier. Service is complete upon sending the notice by facsimile or email, 
sending the notice by overnight courier or delivering it in person, except that, where 
duplicate service is required, service is complete when the duplicate service is complete. 
The notice shall be effective when service is complete. 

(b) – (d) No change. 

* * * * * 
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